STRENGTHENING PUBLIC SCHOOLS FOR STUDENT SUCCESS: SCHOOL BOARD POLICIES AND RESOLUTIONS



The National Education Association is the nation's largest professional employee organization, representing more than 3 million elementary and secondary teachers, higher education faculty, education support professionals, school administrators, retired educators and students preparing to become teachers.

NEA Executive Officers

Rebecca S. Pringle, President Princess R. Moss, Vice President Noel Candelaria, Secretary-Treasurer

NEA Executive Committee

Mark Jewell, North Carolina Gladys Fátima Márquez, Illinois Ron "Duff" Martin, Wisconsin Shannon McCann, Washington Robert V. Rodriguez, California Christine Sampson-Clark, New Jersey

Office of the Executive Director

Kim A. Anderson, Executive Director Karen M. White, Deputy Executive Director

NEA Education Policy and Implementation Center

Daaiyah Bilal-Threats, Senior Director Stacey Pelika, *Director* Elic Senter, Manager Joel Solomon, Manager Tom Zembar, Manager Lisa Zimmerman, Manager

Published 2024 All Rights Reserved

STRENGTHENING PUBLIC SCHOOLS FOR STUDENT SUCCESS: SCHOOL BOARD POLICIES AND RESOLUTIONS

A resource provided by NEA Education Policy and Practice with contributions from the NEA Health and Safety Program, NEA Center for Organizing, NEA Office of General Counsel, NEA Teacher Quality Department, NEA Campaigns and Elections Department, and NEA Human and Civil Rights Department.



Rebecca S. Pringle President

Princess R. Moss Vice President

Noel Candelaria Secretary-Treasurer

Kim A. Anderson **Executive Director**

The National Education Association is committed to developing and deepening collaborative relationships with school board members who are committed to strengthening and preserving public schools for students and educators. Now more than ever, we must work collectively to ensure that our students have the freedom to learn in happy, safe, inclusive schools that celebrate every part of who they are.

For many years, NEA has partnered with pro-public education school board members across the country to invite conversation through webinars, in-person meetings, and shared electronic resources. Our goal is to highlight how public education stakeholders, including school board members, educators, families, and community members, can all be more engaged in the local policymaking process to ensure opportunities for all students-whether Black, Brown, or White, Native or newcomer, LGBTQ+, or differently abled-to succeed.

From cities and counties in districts across the country, local school board members-across race, place, background, and ability and including many who are also NEA members-have joined in our efforts. We look forward to continuing to build a stronger coalition of allies who support local policies that build opportunities for all students to learn in safe, just, equitable, inclusive, and future-focused learning environments. As partners in support of public schools, NEA wanted to provide you with this resource of sample school board resolutions and policies based on best practices identified throughout the country to strengthen our public schools to ensure every student, every single student, has a future where they will thrive.

On behalf of NEA's 3 million members, thank you for your commitment to our country's public schools and the students they serve. We look forward to working with you more in 2024!

Rebecca S. Pringle

President

National Education Association

Devecer & Pringle

Table of Contents

Sample Resolution on Honesty in Education	3
Sample Resolution on Students, Regardless of Immigration Status (K-12)	6
Sample Policy on Students, Regardless of Immigration Status (K-12)	8
Sample Resolution on Access to Education, Student Privacy, and Immigration Enforcement (Higher Education)	9
Sample Policy on Access to Education, Student Privacy, and Immigration Enforcement (Higher Education)	11
Sample Policy for Association Access to New Hire Orientation	12
Sample Resolution for Community Schools Strategy for Thriving Public Schools	13
Sample Resolution on Supporting and Strengthening Students' Life Skills	17
Sample Resolution on Meaningful Consultation with District Employees	19
Sample Policy on Meaningful Consultation with District Employees	20
Sample Policy on Rights of Students	21
Sample Resolution on Health and Safety Committees	27
Sample Resolution on Charter Schools	28
Sample Policy on Charter Schools	30
Sample Policy on Health Care and Social Services	31
Sample Resolution on Artificial Intelligence	33
Sample Policy on Comprehensive Curriculum	35
Sample Policy on Teacher Support and Evaluation	36
Sample Resolution to Audit School Policing Policies and Practices	38
Sample Resolution on Equitable Distribution of Effective Educators	40
Sample Policy on Family, School, and Community Partnerships	41
Sample Resolution to Terminate the Contract for School Services with the [CITY/COUNTY POLICE DEPARTMENT]	42
Sample Poselution on a Diverse Workforce	11

Sample Resolution in Support of Restorative Practices in Schools	45
Sample Resolution on LGBTQ+ Issues	47
Sample Policy on Inclusive Learning Environments	50
Sample Resolution on Disability Rights and Inclusion in Schools	53
Sample Resolution on Budget Transparency	55

Sample Resolution on Honesty in Education

WHEREAS, the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") values nurturing learning and teaching environments; supports and respects educators as trained professionals; and is committed to ensuring that all students can thrive regardless of race, place, background, or ability; and

WHEREAS, the District supports education that values honesty about who we are; integrity in how we treat others; and courage to do what's right by listening to, learning from, and respecting diverse viewpoints; and

WHEREAS, the District values our educators, who through pedagogically sound, ageappropriate curricula and teaching standards that help students understand our collective past, spark curiosity and critical thinking, and prepare all students to meet the challenges of our multicultural present and future [LOCAL DEMOGRAPHIC DATA, IF APPROPRIATE]; and

WHEREAS, the [STATE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION] outlines curriculum and teaching standards that deliver high-quality curricula that teach the full sweep of U.S. history and equip teachers and students to develop their understanding of the world and their ability to make meaningful change in it; and

WHEREAS, many communities across the country have faced misguided attacks on the instruction occurring in schools, when they are simply teaching the full truth of our country's history in accordance with district and state curriculum standards through research-tested pedagogical approaches; and

WHEREAS, studies show that students enrolled in Black Studies and Ethnic Studies courses that include the experiences and narratives of Native People, People of Color, and LGBTQ+ people; honor their cultural assets; and provide students with tools to critique inequality, develop strong relationships with teachers, and gain benefits in terms of school engagement and persistence in academic attainment; and

WHEREAS, a diverse faculty and staff reflective of the demographics of the community, country, and world provides significant value to all students, educators, school staff, and administrators across race, place, background, and ability; and

WHEREAS, continuing professional development and guidance for educators that is culturally responsive, anti-bias and anti-racist and includes historically excluded perspectives that enable educators to foster safe school spaces and promotes academic attainment for students; and

WHEREAS, the District will center education equity by building a shared understanding of U.S. history and actively engaging students, educators, and families, thereby ensuring that all students have what they need to thrive and succeed academically;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the District stands steadfast in its commitment to foster an inclusive, culturally responsive educational environment where every student, educator, and community member is treated with dignity and respect and condemns racism, sexism, and all forms of bigotry in our schools and community; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the District stands behind its curricular materials, which meet ISTATE academic standards, and that the District further shall:

- 1. Stand by the right of our students to learn-and our expert educators to teach-an inclusive curriculum that covers our country's whole history and encourages students to think critically and develop their own views and voice about current events;
- 2. Support culturally responsive education that centers students' diverse history, cultures, families, and communities, thereby allowing students to see themselves reflected in the classroom, have strong relationships with their educators, and understand the world in which they live;
- 3. Support the study of the social, political, economic, and historical perspectives of our nation's diverse racial and ethnic groups, which helps foster cross-cultural understanding among all students and aids students in valuing their own cultural identity while appreciating the differences around them;
- 4. In partnership with educators, students, and the community, review the District's current curriculum in order to ensure it reflects a true history of this nation and the world we live in and works to dismantle systemic racism and racial inequity in our schools; and
- 5. Move forward with creating and implementing Black Studies and Ethnic Studies courses in all high schools; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the District stands behind educators who teach district curricula and [STATE] academic standards in a truthful way that represents the full scope of this country's history and present reality, and that the District further shall:

- 1. Support and defend educators' use of teaching materials that incorporate diverse perspectives and that represent and acknowledge the experiences of all students;
- 2. Ensure that individual educators who teach [STATE] academic standards are not punished for teaching accurate information;
- 3. Honor the training, expertise, and professional judgment of its educators and respect pedagogical approaches that engage students around difficult questions in an inclusive, critical, and age-appropriate way;
- 4. Commit to dedicating time in schools for ongoing professional development, culturally responsive training, book studies, celebrations of diversity that center People of Color, critical conversations among staff and with students, and establishing community partnerships to support this work; and
- 5. Put in place practices that will lead to a more diverse workforce, consistent with the District's commitment to a diverse faculty and staff that reflects the demographics of the community, country, and world, and thereby provides significant value to students of color, White students, and all in our community; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District commits to education equity, and that the District further shall:

- 1. Reject the idea that education equity is a zero-sum proposition in which some students lose opportunities to help other students succeed, and instead, work to provide all students with a world-class education:
- 2. Ensure safe, welcoming, and effective schools in which every student-regardless of race, gender, ZIP code, language, country of origin, religion, sexual identity or orientation, ability or disability, or family's income—has a chance at academic success;
- 3. Ensure learning environments are free from discrimination, harassment, and identitybased bullying, consistent with [RELEVANT EXISTING DISTRICT POLICIES];
- 4. Support, review, and revise the District's policies, programs, educational materials, teaching approaches, and resources to ensure education equity;
- 5. Review and assess the District's discipline practices to determine if there is evidence of racial bias in discipline enforcement; and
- 6. Work to meet students where they are-academically, emotionally, and physicallyand implement trauma-informed disciplinary practices in schools, particularly in communities in which students' families have been disproportionately impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic due to health disparities.

Sample Resolution on Students, Regardless of **Immigration Status (K-12)**

WHEREAS, it is the right of every child, regardless of immigration status, to access a free public K-12 education and the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") welcomes and supports all students; and

WHEREAS, the District has a responsibility to ensure that all students who reside within its boundaries, regardless of immigration status, can safely access a free public K-12 education; and

WHEREAS, federal immigration law enforcement activities, on or around district property and transportation routes, whether by surveillance, interview, demand for information, arrest, detention, or any other means, harmfully disrupt the learning environment to which all students, regardless of immigration status, are entitled and significantly interfere with the ability of all students, including U.S. citizen students and students who hold other legal grounds for presence in the United States, to access a free public K-12 education; and

WHEREAS, through its policies and practices, the District has made a commitment to a quality education for all students, which includes a safe and stable learning environment, means of transportation to and from school sites, the preservation of classroom hours for educational instruction, and the requirement of school attendance; and

WHEREAS, parents and students have expressed to the District fear and confusion about the continued physical and emotional safety of all students and the right to access a free public K-12 education through district schools and programs; and

WHEREAS, educational personnel are often the primary sources of support, resources, and information to assist and support students and student learning, which includes their emotional health;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the U.S. Immigrations Enforcement Office (hereinafter, "ICE"), state or local law enforcement agencies acting on behalf of ICE, or agents or officers for any federal, state, or local agency attempting to enforce federal immigration laws are to follow District's Policy, attached to and incorporated in this Resolution, to ensure the District meets its duty to provide all students, regardless of immigration status, access to a free public K-12 education; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board declares the District to be a Safe Zone for its students, meaning that the District is a place for students to learn, thrive, and seek assistance, information, and support related to any immigration law enforcement that interferes with their learning experience; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall, within 30 days of the date of this Resolution, create a Rapid Response Team to prepare in the event a minor child attending school in the District is deprived of adult care, supervision, or quardianship outside of school due to a federal law enforcement action, such as detention by ICE or a cooperating law enforcement agency; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that it continues to be the policy of the District not to allow any individual or organization to enter a school site if the educational setting would be disrupted by that visit; given the likelihood of substantial disruption posed by the presence of ICE or state or local law enforcement agencies acting for ICE, any request by ICE or other agencies to visit a school site should be presented to the Superintendent's Office for review as to whether access to the site is permitted by law, a judicial warrant is required, or any other legal considerations apply; this review should be made expeditiously, but before any immigration law enforcement agent or officer appears at a school site; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that in its continued commitment to the protection of student privacy, the District shall review its record-keeping policies and practices to ensure that no data is being collected with respect to students' immigration status or place of birth and cease any such collection as it is irrelevant to the educational enterprise and potentially discriminatory; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that should ICE or other immigration law enforcement agents request any student information, the request should be referred to the Superintendent's Office to ensure compliance with Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), student constitutional privacy, standards for a judicial warrant, and any other limitation on disclosure; this review should be conducted expeditiously but before any production of information is made; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall post this Resolution at every school site and distribute it to district staff, students, and parents and families using usual means of communication, and that the Resolution will be translated into all languages spoken by students and their parents and families at home; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Superintendent shall report back on compliance with this Resolution to the Board at its next meeting; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board directs the Superintendent to review district policies and practices regarding bullying and report back to the Board at its next meeting and communicate the importance of maintaining a bullying-free environment for all students to staff, students, and parents and families; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board affirms that certificated district employees have the academic freedom to discuss this Resolution during class time provided it is age-appropriate, and students are to be made aware that district counselors are available to discuss the subjects contained in this Resolution; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that afterschool providers and other vendors and service providers who contract with the District shall be notified of this Resolution within 30 days and required to abide by it.

Sample Policy on Students, Regardless of **Immigration Status (K-12)**

School personnel must not allow any third-party access to a school site without permission of the site administrator. The site administrator shall not permit third-party access to the school site that would cause disruption to the learning environment.

The Board, in Resolution [NUMBER], based on its educational experience and as part of its deliberative process as our governing body, has found that access to a school site by immigration law enforcement agents substantially disrupts the learning environment and any such request for access should be referred to the Superintendent's Office immediately.

School personnel must contact the Superintendent's Office immediately if approached by immigration law enforcement agents. Personnel must also attempt to contact the parents or caregivers of any students involved.

The Superintendent's Office must process requests by immigration law enforcement agents to enter a school site or obtain student data as follows:

- 1. Request identification from the officers or agents and photocopy it;
- 2. Request a judicial warrant and photocopy it;
 - a. If no warrant is presented, request the grounds for access, make notes, and contact legal counsel for the District;
- 3. Request and retain notes of the names of the students and the reasons for the request;
 - a. If school site personnel have not yet contacted the students' parents or caregivers, do so: and
 - b. Do not attempt to provide your own information or conjecture about the students, such as their schedule, for example, without legal counsel present;
- 4. Provide the agents with a copy of this Policy and Resolution [NUMBER];
- 5. Contact legal counsel for the District;
- 6. Request the agents' contact information; and
- 7. Advise the agents you are required to complete these steps prior to allowing them access to any school site or student data.

Sample Resolution on Access to Education, Student Privacy, and Immigration Enforcement (Higher Education)

WHEREAS, [COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY] (hereinafter, "College") welcomes, supports, and respects all students, whether Black, Brown, or White, Native or newcomer; holds student equality as one of its core values, essential to its educational mission; and is committed to and here reaffirms its policies of nondiscrimination and equal opportunity; and

WHEREAS, federal immigration law enforcement activities, on or around college property, whether by surveillance, interview, demand for information, arrest, detention, or any other means, significantly interfere with the ability of all students, including U.S. citizen students and students who hold other legal grounds for presence in the United States, to pursue an education; and

WHEREAS, [except in Alabama, Georgia, and South Carolina], federal, state, and college law and policy do not restrict access to public postsecondary institutions based on a student's immigration status; and

WHEREAS, through its policies and practices, the College has made a commitment to a quality education for all students, which includes a safe campus and learning environment free from threat and harassment; and

WHEREAS, the [COLLEGE OR UNIVERSITY GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the College's academic community, and numerous postsecondary institutions around the country are concerned about the recent increase in anti-immigrant activity that has taken criminal, discriminatory, and/or intimidating form and harmed students and education; and

WHEREAS, members of the college community have expressed to the College fear and confusion about the continued physical and emotional safety of all students and the ability to access education through the College and its programs; and

WHEREAS, education personnel are often the primary sources of support, resources, and information to assist students and student learning, which includes student emotional health; and

WHEREAS, primary jurisdiction over enforcement of federal immigration laws rests with the federal government and not with the [COLLEGE POLICE DEPARTMENT] (hereinafter, "CPD") or any other state or local law enforcement agency; and

WHEREAS, CPD is devoted to providing professional policing services that strive to ensure a safe and secure environment in which members of the College's diverse community can pursue the College's research, education, and public service missions; and

WHEREAS, community trust and cooperation are essential to effective law enforcement on campus; the limited resources of CPD should not be diverted from this mission to enforcement of federal immigration laws;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the Board, the U.S. Immigrations Enforcement Office (hereinafter, "ICE"), state or local law enforcement agencies acting on behalf of ICE, or agents or officers for any federal, state, or local agency attempting to enforce federal immigration laws are to follow the attached College Policy, which is incorporated in this Resolution, to ensure the College meets its commitment to provide student education in a safe and stable learning environment; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board declares the College to be a Safe Zone for its students, meaning that the College is a place for students to learn and thrive free from threat or intrusion and seek assistance, information, and support related to any immigration law enforcement that interferes with their learning experience; the attached Policy is intended to protect the safety and security of our students, faculty, staff, and broader college community; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that given the likelihood of substantial disruption to the educational setting posed by the presence of ICE or state or local law enforcement agencies acting for ICE, any request by ICE or other immigration enforcement agents to visit campus should be presented to the Chancellor's Office for review as to whether access is permitted by law, a judicial warrant is required, or any other legal considerations apply; this review should be made expeditiously but before any immigration law enforcement agent or officer appears on campus; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that in its continued commitment to the protection of student privacy, the College shall review its record-keeping policies and practices to ensure that no data is being collected with respect to students' immigration status or place of birth unless required by law; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that should ICE or other immigration law enforcement agents request any student information, the request should be referred to the Chancellor's Office to ensure compliance with Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), student constitutional privacy, standards for a judicial warrant, and any other limitation on disclosure; this review should be conducted expeditiously but before any production of information is made; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that CPD shall not contact, detain, question, or arrest an individual solely on the basis of suspected undocumented immigration status or to discover the immigration status of an individual, nor request information about immigration status from crime victims or witnesses; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that CPD shall not detain an individual in response to an immigration hold request from ICE or any other law enforcement agency enforcing federal immigration law; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the College shall post this Resolution on its website and in usual on-campus posting locations and distribute it to college faculty, staff, students, and major vendors using usual means of communication; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board directs the Chancellor to review college policies and practices regarding bullying and communicate the importance of maintaining a bullying-free environment for all students to faculty, staff, and students; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the College shall make available to students materials, workshops, and legal referrals relating to immigration rights; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the College shall implement a forum for ongoing feedback from students, faculty, and staff about campus climate and additional future actions to protect the safety and dignity of the college community as a Safe Zone; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board affirms that faculty and teaching assistants have the academic freedom to discuss this Resolution during class time; and students are to be made aware that counselors are available to discuss the subjects contained in this Resolution; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Chancellor shall report back on compliance with this Resolution to the Board at its next meeting.

Sample Policy on Access to Education, Student Privacy, and Immigration Enforcement (Higher Education)

The Board, in Resolution [NUMBER], based on its educational experience and as part of its deliberative process as our governing body, has found that access to campus by immigration law enforcement agents substantially disrupts the learning environment and any such request for access should be referred to the Chancellor's Office immediately.

The Chancellor's Office must process requests by immigration law enforcement agents to enter campus or obtain student data as follows:

- 1. Request identification from the officers or agents and photocopy it;
- 2. Request a judicial warrant and photocopy it;
 - a. If no warrant is presented, request the grounds for access, make notes, and contact legal counsel for the College;
- 3. Request and retain notes of the names of any students identified by the agents and the reasons for the request;
 - a. Do not attempt to provide your own information or conjecture about the students, such as their schedule, for example, without legal counsel present;
- 4. Provide the agents with a copy of Resolution [NUMBER] and this Policy;
- 5. Contact legal counsel for the College;
- 6. Request the agents' contact information; and
- 7. Advise the agents you are required to complete these steps prior to allowing them access to campus or any student data.

Sample Policy for Association Access to **New Hire Orientation**

Purpose

To ensure that new employees learn about their rights, benefits, and obligations as per their employment contract.

Policy

Representatives from employee associations and/or collective bargaining agents will be provided access to all new employee orientations and be given no less than 60 uninterrupted minutes, in-person and during work hours, to advise all new employees of their employment status, rights, benefits, duties, responsibilities, and other employment-related matters as well as educate employees about the employee association's role in protecting the rights of employees.

The District will provide association representatives or collective bargaining agents at least 10 days' notice in advance of scheduled new employee orientations to adequately prepare to educate new employees.

To implement this Policy, the District shall provide the employee association and/or collective bargaining agent with the following:

- 1. A list containing the names and contact information for represented employees within 15 days of hire and an updated list of bargaining unit members no less than every 90 days to ensure that it is equipped to communicate with the employees it represents;
- 2. If a new employee orientation is not held or if the new employee does not have the chance to attend it, the employee association and/or collective bargaining agent shall be given no less than 60 uninterrupted minutes, in person and during work hours, to meet with new employees individually or in small groups; and
- 3. Access to virtual platforms as needed to access new employees at new hire orientations or in individual and small group meetings.

Furthermore, the District shall:

- 1. Limit participation in new hire orientations and in meetings with new employees individually and in small groups to the employee association and/or collective bargaining agent; and
- 2. Refrain from any conduct that discourages employees from joining, supporting, or paying dues to the employee association.

Sample Resolution for Community Schools Strategy for Thriving Public Schools

WHEREAS, a central goal of the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District"] is to develop the holistic capacities of young people so that they emerge from their K-12 schooling creative, critical, and community-minded; and

WHEREAS, students should have access to an array of curricular and extracurricular learning opportunities that promote their full development; and

WHEREAS, students and families and/or caregivers should have access to an array of health and social supports that enable such development; and

WHEREAS, students should understand that they are valued members of communities and that they have a role to play in improving and contributing to their communities; and

WHEREAS, students can develop analytic skills and civic commitments by studying the strengths and challenges of their communities and developing evidence-based plans for community improvement; and

WHEREAS, students should develop the skills and commitments to negotiate differences through non-violent dialogue and build community across differences; and

WHEREAS, the holistic development of students must be a shared effort of educators, community partners, and parents, families, and caregivers; and

WHEREAS, educators can play a vital role in such work when they have time, support, and training to forge meaningful connections with students, parents, families, caregivers, and community partners; and

WHEREAS, there is a long history of community schooling (spanning well more than a century) that has promoted these very goals; and

WHEREAS, schools face a set of challenges today that make community schooling more important than ever; and

WHEREAS, the United States has among the highest levels of economic inequality among industrialized nations; and

WHEREAS, economic and social inequality has powerful negative effects on the well-being of students; and

WHEREAS, these effects include unmet health, mental health, and social welfare needs; and

WHEREAS, these effects also include inadequate and unequal access to enriching curricula and afterschool experiences that support holistic development; and

WHEREAS, these effects are exacerbated by education reform strategies that focus narrowly on competition and hence erode the relationships and understanding that promote a sense of community; and

WHEREAS, the following six strategies have been identified as the hallmarks of a successfully implemented community school program:

- 1. Curricula that are engaging, culturally relevant, and challenging; schools offer a robust selection of classes and afterschool programs in the arts, languages, and ethnic studies to promote the holistic development of all students, including preparation for college, career, and civic participation; instructional strategies and support services make this curriculum accessible to all students, including English language learners and students with disabilities; pedagogy is student-centered;
- 2. An emphasis on high-quality teaching that engages students and motivates learning, not on high-stakes testing; schools foster professional learning communities to build the capacity for such teaching; teachers learn from one another and use various forms of assessments to better understand and respond to students' needs; professional development programs link educators with parents, families, caregivers, and community partners and provide educators with the knowledge and skills necessary to support community-based curriculum and school-community partnerships;
- 3. Wraparound supports and opportunities (such as health care, vision care, and social and emotional services) that support academics; these services are available before, during, and after school and are provided year-round to the full community; community partners are accountable and culturally relevant; the supports are aligned to the classroom using thorough and continuous data collection, analysis, and reflection; space for these services is allocated within the building or within walking distance;
- 4. Positive discipline practices, such as restorative justice and social and emotional learning supports, are stressed so that students can grow and contribute to the school community and beyond; school safety and positive school climate are achieved through these mechanisms; and suspensions and harsh punishments are eliminated or greatly reduced;
- 5. Authentic family and community engagement in which the full community actively participates in planning and decision-making at each school site; this process recognizes the link between the success of the school and the development of the community as a whole; and
- 6. Inclusive school leadership who are committed to making the community school strategy integral to the school's mandate and functioning; they ensure that the Community School Coordinator is a part of the leadership team and that a Community School Committee—which includes students, parents, families, caregivers, community partners, school staff, and other stakeholders who are representatives of the school's various constituencies—has a voice in the planning and implementation of the strategy; and

WHEREAS, the District further defines a "community school" as a school that achieves success by implementing the above strategies through the following mechanisms:

- 1. An annual assets and needs assessment of and by both school and community;
- 2. A strategic plan that results in the creation of various priority teams dedicated to continuous improvement; these teams will define how educators, students, parents, families, caregivers, and community partners will use all available assets to address specific priorities and student needs to achieve better results;

- 3. The engagement of partners who bring assets and expertise to help implement the building blocks of community schools; and
- 4. A dedicated staff member at the community school site whose primary job is to facilitate the priority teams; the dedicated staff member, in consultation with the schoollevel leadership team, will assemble the relevant interest holders to advance goals identified in the assets and needs assessment process; the priority teams should utilize improvement science to support a continuous improvement process; and

WHEREAS, many school sites throughout the District have already incorporated some of these strategies and mechanisms in their approaches to teaching and community engagement; and

WHEREAS, the National Education Association has developed a set of NEA Community School Implementation Benchmarks to operationalize the strategies and mechanisms listed above; these benchmarks are concrete activities, tasks, and action steps that community schools take in pursuit of a transformational community school strategy; and

WHEREAS, the community schools framework provides a systemic approach for incorporating and expanding upon existing board resolutions whose related goals include [GOALS]; and

WHEREAS, the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board") recognizes the positive impact community school strategies can have on schools and communities; and

WHEREAS, the District endorses community schooling as an evidence-based strategy for school improvement and community development, which expands access to:

- 1. Enriching curricular and extracurricular experiences that support the holistic development of students;
- 2. School-based health, mental health, and social services that offer essential supports for students and their parents, families, and/or caregivers;
- 3. Community-centered curriculum that engages students in social inquiry and civic action;
- 4. Restorative justice programs that build a non-violent, respectful, and justice-enhancing community;
- 5. Professional development programs that link educators with parents, families, and/or caregivers and community partners and provide educators with the knowledge and skills necessary to support community-based curriculum and school-community partnerships; and
- 6. Inclusive and democratic leadership structures that engage family members and community partners alongside educators as vital members of community school teams;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the Board, an implementation procedure by which a school site, having expressed the desire to become a community school, may proceed systematically through a community school transformation process; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that district administration will work with the local educator union and other partners to convene a Community Schools Steering Committee to provide a collaborative leadership structure at the district level to guide the community schools initiative. The Community Schools Steering Committee should include community schools experts as well as a representative diversity of interest holders who will help the Steering Committee operate with a variety of perspectives, including students, parents, family members, caregivers, educators, administrators/principals, key district staff, and community members/organizations; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Community Schools Steering Committee will develop a plan that includes a proposal for:

- 1. The optimal number of school sites for an initial cohort that shall undergo a community schools transformation:
- 2. The selection criteria for this initial cohort of community schools and an interest-holderinformed system of recognized future community schools;
- 3. A proposal to responsibly scale the number of community schools throughout the District:
- 4. An identification of a curriculum for supporting community schools best practice implementation;
- 5. A framework for initial and ongoing training and coaching for community schools staff; and
- 6. An assessment of the direct costs borne by the District and other partners for each community school; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the administration shall present this plan to the Board within 90 days of the passage of this Resolution.

Sample Resolution on Supporting and Strengthening Students' Life Skills

WHEREAS, public schools in the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") are more than a place where students take tests—they are where our students experience childhood and a part of what ties our communities together and shapes our children's lives; and

WHEREAS, through its policies and practices, the District has made a commitment to a quality education for all students, which includes a safe and stable learning environment; and

WHEREAS, educators are often the primary source of support, resources, and information to assist and support students and student learning, which includes their social and emotional health; and

WHEREAS, our nation's future well-being relies on strengthening the cornerstone of our democracy-high-quality public schools that prepare students across race, place, background, and ability for higher education, career, and lifelong learning so that they have a future where they can thrive; and

WHEREAS, the proven solutions that prepare students for fulfilling lives include ensuring they acquire and apply life skills, such as the ability to manage emotions, set and achieve positive goals, feel and show empathy toward others, establish and maintain positive relationships, and make responsible decisions; and

WHEREAS, students with strong life skills are better able to cope with challenges, build resilience, develop protective behaviors and beliefs against mental health challenges, engage academically, and experience long-term social, professional, and academic benefits; and

WHEREAS, the involvement of parents, families, and caregivers helps to foster a strong sense of community and potential for our students' futures; and

WHEREAS, studies show that major employers are increasingly seeking empathy, adaptability, and other interpersonal skills in employees and leaders, making life skills curricula paramount to students' future success; and

WHEREAS, the inclusion of learning important life skills is most effective with universal, evidence-based instruction and composes the foundation of a tiered system of student supports; and

WHEREAS, existing color-coded barriers to housing, health care, and education limit opportunities for students to access the resources and supports they need, across race and place; and

WHEREAS, effective life skills instruction centers the cultural, academic, and life experiences of our students-whether Black, Brown, or White, Native or newcomer, LGBTQ+, or differently abled-through culturally appropriate and trauma-informed practices; and

WHEREAS, life skills can help students feel safe and supported at school, bolstering their connection to the school community and their readiness to learn and thrive;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), that life skills learning and supports are a priority in students' education; that the District recognizes the importance of having learning experiences tied to life skills competencies, including self-awareness, self-management, responsible decision-making, relationship skills, and social awareness; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District strives to provide each student with culturally response, trauma-informed learning experiences that build these skills and recognizes the value in life skills in reaching learning goals and enhancing education outcomes; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that every student in district schools has access to evidencebased life skills learning instruction and supports with intentional skill-building and integration throughout core academic subjects; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District asserts when the school community joins together across race and place with parents, families, and caregivers to ensure schools treat all children equitably and with compassion, a love of learning is nurtured and can better meet students' needs with the proven approaches that help students grow; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall ensure school is a place where every student can thrive by allocating appropriate funds to ensure educators, specialized instructional support professionals (SISP), and school support staff receive adequate training on core life skills learning practices; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that schools and school districts establish a process that provides for tiered levels of support for students that builds upon a foundation of core life skills.

Sample Resolution on Meaningful Consultation with District Employees

WHEREAS, our nation's future well-being relies on high-quality neighborhood public schools that prepare all students for college, career, civic engagement, and lifelong learning to ensure futures where they can thrive; and

WHEREAS, the future of students in the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") depends on what we do together as a collaborative community; and

WHEREAS, our nation's schools and districts have been making too many critical decisions without benefit of the voices and expertise of the educators who know students' names in our schools; and

WHEREAS, our nation's schools and districts have been spending growing amounts of time, money, and energy on high-stakes standardized testing in which student performance on standardized tests is used to make major decisions affecting individual students, educators, and schools; and

WHEREAS, the overreliance on high-stakes and standardized testing in state accountability systems is undermining educational quality and opportunity in U.S. public schools by hampering educators' efforts to focus on creativity, problem-solving, collaboration, communication, critical thinking, and deep subject-matter knowledge that will allow students to thrive in a democracy and an increasingly global society and economy; and

WHEREAS, a child's chances for success should not depend on living in the right ZIP code; and

WHEREAS, the President of the United States, with support from educators across the nation, signed the Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015 to ensure each student receives a fair, equitable, and high-quality education;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), supports the collaborative development and implementation of a plan through meaningful consultation with the [LOCAL AFFILIATE], educators, parents, students, and community members to ensure the opportunities for a wellrounded education presented by the Every Student Succeeds Act are realized by including all stakeholders in decision-making; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board calls on the governor, state legislature, state education boards, and state administrators to re-examine public school accountability and finance systems in this State to ensure that multiple forms of evidence are used to create a full and complete picture of student learning opportunities and school quality, and that such evidence is used to collaboratively design and deliver a system of resources and supports where they are needed most to fulfill the promise of public education for each and every student.

Sample Policy on Meaningful Consultation with **District Employees**

To the extent practicable, the employees of the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter "District") shall have the opportunity to participate or have input into decision-making on budget decisions, specifically as it pertains to the allocation and use of funds. All district employees shall be provided sufficient time to provide input and their schedules shall be factored in to accommodate and ensure they have the opportunity to participate.

District employees are an essential stakeholder and shall be engaged to ensure that any decisions regarding budget allocations or policies reflect the views of the employees uniquely positioned to articulate the academic and developmental needs of students.

Consultation with district employees shall be meaningful and it shall be inclusive, clear, effective, and ongoing in order to meet the shared responsibility of ensuring every student is supported in and prepared for their next journey, be it grade, level, career, college, civic responsibility, or leadership. Engagement shall be deemed meaningful if district employees are made aware of opportunities to participate in consultations, have information needed to contribute, believe their input will be used to shape board and district decisions, and are informed about how their input affected final decisions.

Sample Policy on Rights of Students

Bullying, Harassment, Discrimination, and Retaliation Based on Race, Color, National Origin, and Religion Prohibited

All students in the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") are entitled to be treated equally without discrimination based on race, color, national origin, or religion. The District will not tolerate bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation of students based on race, color, national origin, or religion. In order to ensure any such conduct is promptly stopped and appropriate remedial action is taken, the District adopts this Policy for handling and resolving any complaints of such bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation.

Scope

This Policy applies to the entire school community, including educators, school and district staff, students, parents, and volunteers. This Policy covers conduct that takes place in the school, on school property, at school-sponsored functions and activities, on school buses or vehicles, and at bus stops. This Policy also applies to electronic technology and electronic communication that occurs in school, on school property, at school-sponsored functions and activities, on school buses or vehicles, at bus stops, and on school computers, networks, forums, and mailing lists as well as electronic communication that occurs off school property that will foreseeably reach the school campus and cause a substantial disruption at school.

Definitions

BULLYING means written, verbal or physical conduct, or electronic communication that adversely affects the ability of one or more students to participate in or benefit from the school's educational programs or activities by placing the student (or students) in reasonable fear of physical harm. Such instances may consist of comments and conduct directed at a student either directly or indirectly, whether through electronic communications, in-person comments, or otherwise.

HARASSMENT means written, verbal or physical conduct, or electronic communication that adversely affects the ability of one or more students to participate in or benefit from the school's educational programs or activities because the conduct is so severe, persistent, or pervasive. Such instances may consist of comments and conduct directed at a student either directly or indirectly, whether through electronic communications, in-person comments, or otherwise.

DISCRIMINATION means negative behavior or actions against an individual or group of people on the basis of their social identity.

NATIONAL ORIGIN bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation involves treating someone unfavorably because they are from a particular country or part of the world, because of their ethnicity or accent, or because they are perceived to be from a certain ethnic background (even if they are not).

RACE bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation involves treating someone unfavorably because they are of a certain race (or are perceived to be of a certain race) or because they have personal characteristics associated with that race (such as hair texture, skin color, or certain facial features).

COLOR bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation involves treating someone unfavorably because of their skin color or complexion.

RELIGIOUS bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation involves treating someone unfavorably because of their perceived or actual religious beliefs, practices, customs, or heritage or because of stereotypes about such religions regardless of whether the religions are the traditional, organized religions (such as Buddhism, Christianity, Hinduism, Islam, and Judaism) or another religion.

Religious Expression

Any school uniform policy or practice will accommodate students whose religious beliefs are burdened by a uniform requirement. Students may display religious messages on clothing to the same extent they are permitted to display comparable secular messages. Students shall have the right to wear clothes that are expressive of their religious traditions, customs, and beliefs, including, but not limited to, yarmulkes, hijabs, headscarves, and other religiously influenced head or body coverings.

Student Speech

Students shall have the right to exercise freedom of speech and of the press at school; however, the right to exercise freedom of speech does not justify bullying, harassing, discriminating, or retaliatory actions or speech that deprive or diminish other students' right to an equal education.

Staff Advocacy for Students' Rights

All staff shall have the right to inform students of their legal and constitutional rights to be free from bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation in school as well as their rights under this Policy. Staff shall have discretion as to how to convey those messages. Classroom posters, signs, and other classroom postings making clear that the classroom is a welcome place for all students shall be encouraged and not prohibited.

Investigation, Remedy, and Prevention Procedure

The District encourages anyone-students, parents and families, volunteers, educators, or staff members-who witnesses bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation based on a student's actual or perceived race, color, national origin, or religion to report the conduct to school staff. All school staff are required to promptly share any such reports to the school district administrator, whom each school district has designated to accept and process such complaints.

Complaints may be made orally or in writing. Complaints should not be dismissed for any technical reason. If additional information is needed, the designated administrator must take reasonable measures to obtain the necessary information. Anonymous reports of bullying, harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation shall be accepted and investigated in the same way as other reports.

Upon receiving a complaint for bullying, harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation, the designated administrator shall:

- 1. Take immediate steps to protect any involved students, educators, and/or staff;
- 2. Promptly and thoroughly investigate the alleged bullying, harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation;
- 3. Determine if alleged bullying, harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation occurred;

- 4. If the administrator determines that the bullying, harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation occurred, take immediate action to prevent any further instances and future occurrences;
 - a. Such actions should include, depending on the circumstances, counseling or discipline of the student committing the bullying, harassing, discriminating, and/ or retaliatory behavior; counseling shall be favored over discipline; and
 - b. Actions addressing any systemic issues needed to prevent recurrence of the bullying, harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation; a school that experienced more than one act of bullying, harassing, discriminating, and/or retaliatory behavior against students of a particular race, color, national origin, or religion, whether actual or perceived, the remedy shall include systemic responses, such as curricula changes, professional development for staff, and/or Know Your Rights trainings for students and their parents and families;
- 5. The administrator shall also promptly provide a written report to district administration and all involved students, parents and families, and educators regarding the complaint, investigation, and any measures taken to remedy the bullying, harassing, discriminating, and/or retaliatory behavior and prevent future occurrences; such a report shall preserve in confidence the names of the individuals involved to the greatest extent possible; and
- 6. The administrator shall maintain written or electronic records of each complaint and its investigation and resolution including the final report and the implementation of any and all remedial actions taken.

A complainant or victim of bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation (or parent or caregivers) has the right to appeal the designated school administrator's handling of the complaint to the Superintendent of the District.

Should that occur, the Superintendent (or independent designee) shall conduct an independent review to determine whether the designated administrator: (1) correctly analyzed the complaint; (2) conducted a sufficient investigation of the incident; (3) made a proper determination about whether bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation occurred; and (4) took adequate action to remedy past bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation and prevent future occurrences.

Retaliation Prohibited

The District prohibits retaliation against any individual who reports bullying, harassment, or discrimination of any student on the basis of race, color, national origin, or religion or who participates in an investigation of such a report. Retaliation is any attempt to seek retribution against an individual or group of individuals involved in filing a complaint or report under this Policy, filing an external complaint, participating in a disciplinary process, or opposing in a reasonable manner an action believed to constitute a violation of this Policy. Examples of retaliation include termination, demotion, refusal to promote, denial of equal educational opportunities, or any other adverse employment or school action that would discourage a reasonable person from opposing perceived bullying, discrimination, and/or harassment.

There will be no retaliation by the District against anyone who makes a good faith complaint about bullying, harassment, or discrimination or who in good faith reports or provides information

in the course of the investigation of such complaints. A complaint that such retaliation has occurred will be investigated and resolved in the same manner as other complaints under this Policy. If the investigation determines that retaliation has occurred, appropriate corrective action will be taken.

Enrollment

The school's enrollment practices may not treat immigrant students or families less favorably than any other students or families. No school may require that students or their parents or families show a particular proof of residency, such as a driver's license or state-issued identification, to enroll. Driver's license or state-issued identifications can be allowed, but cannot be required; however, schools may require proof of residency in the form of other documentation including utility bills, such as phone, water, or gas bills; lease agreements or mortgage documents; and affidavits from a parent, caregiver, or other relative.

Students experiencing homelessness, including undocumented students experiencing homelessness, are exempt from any documentation requirements in order to establish residency. A child experiencing homelessness shall never be required to show any documentation relating to proof of residency in order to enroll in public school.

District personnel shall not inquire about or record a student's or a family member's immigration status and, pursuant to the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), shall not disclose, without parental consent, the immigration status of any student or other personally identifiable information.

Schools may request documentation to establish that a student falls within the District's minimum and maximum age requirements. No school may prevent or discourage students from enrolling or attending school because the student lacks a birth certificate or has records indicating a foreign place of birth, such as a foreign birth certificate. Schools may require proof of age in the form of documentation such as a religious, hospital, or physician's certificate showing date of birth; an entry in a family record; an adoption record; an affidavit from a parent, caregiver, or other relative; a birth certificate; or previously verified school records. Schools should not use a student's birth certificate or other documentation as a basis for inquiring into the immigration status of the student or of the student's family members.

Equal Access to Educational Programs for Immigrant Students and Families

District personnel shall treat all students, regardless of immigration status, equitably in the receipt of all school services, including, but not limited to, the free and reduced lunch program, transportation, and educational instruction.

The District will:

- 1. Offer counseling that adequately acknowledges the impact of immigration status on students and their family members;
- 2. Offer Know Your Rights presentations to students and their parents and families in their preferred language; and
- 3. Ensure that students are aware of opportunities to gain access to college, in-state tuition, financial aid, scholarships, internships, and career opportunities, regardless of their status.

To establish a support system for immigrant students, the District shall establish on-campus resource centers for immigrant students and their parents and families and shall establish at least one immigrant liaison with expertise in immigrant and undocumented populations.

Distribution and Implementation of the Policy

This Policy shall be distributed to students and staff annually and be made part of student codes of conduct, student handbooks, and school and district websites.

Staff Anti-Harassment Training and Professional Development

All staff are to be trained on this Policy. Such training shall include: (1) how to report bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation; and (2) how to respond to incidents of bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation that staff witness.

Those who lead or co-lead the training to prevent bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation as well as the school district administrator of this Policy should themselves receive specific and appropriate training in issues related to race, color, national origin, religion, and cultural awareness and competency.

Staff shall also be provided professional development programs that provide them with, among other things: (1) developmentally and age-appropriate strategies to prevent bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation; (2) developmentally and age-appropriate strategies for immediate, effective interventions to stop bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation; (3) training on the complex interaction and power differential between offenders, victims, and witnesses to bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation; (4) research on the causes and effects of bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation, including information about specific categories of students who are particularly at risk for bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation; and (5) training on identifying cyberbullying and other internet safety issues.

Staff shall also receive necessary support to successfully teach students who come from cultures other than their own. Staff are entitled to district-sponsored and district-funded training aimed at developing personal and interpersonal awareness and sensitivities, understanding of certain bodies of cultural knowledge, and mastery of a set of skills that, taken together, underlie effective cross-cultural teaching.

Student Anti-Harassment and Bullying Curriculum

As part of each school's regular curriculum, at least annually, schools shall provide education for all students (using age-appropriate materials) regarding tolerance, diversity, and respect for others. This shall include grade and age-appropriate education about the prohibition of bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation on the basis of race, color, national origin, and religion and the District's policies with respect to such behavior. The curriculum will also include instruction on how to prevent bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation; on how to make complaints; and on what will occur should students engage in such behaviors.

Anti-Harassment Trainings

All anti-harassment trainings shall include, at a minimum, the following:

1. Instruction on the type of conduct that constitutes bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation based on race, color, national origin, or religion and a discussion about the negative impact that such behaviors have on students, employees, and the educational environment, including the long-term impact on the students who are bullied, harassed, discriminated against, or retaliated against and on the offending students themselves;

- 2. Discussion of the importance of, sensitivity to, and respect for the diversity of the student body;
- 3. A facilitated discussion of the root causes of specific forms of bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation that bear emphasis in the particular school;
 - a. For example, if bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation based on religion or national origin against Muslim students persists in a particular school, then education should focus on Muslim history and contributions as well as education about bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation based on religion or national origin in particular and the harms resulting from such conduct, including, but not limited to, issues related to backlashes that occur after terrorist events and the perpetuation of negative stereotypes impacting the Sikh, Muslim, Arab-American, and South Asian communities;
 - b. For example, if bullying, harassment, discrimination, or retaliation based on religion or national origin against immigrant students or those perceived as immigrants persists in a particular school, then education about the history and contributions of immigrants should be had as well as a discussion about bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation against immigrants in particular and the harms resulting from such conduct, including, but not limited to, the perpetuation of negative stereotypes impacting immigrant communities;
- 4. Identification of designated staff at each school who are available to answer questions or address concerns regarding the harassment policies and procedures or other issues related to bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation;
- 5. Instruction that when bullying, harassment, discrimination, and retaliation based on race, color, national origin, or religion occurs, staff should inform students who bully, harass, discriminate against, or retaliate against others that the District accepts and respects the dignity of all students and that such comments or actions are inappropriate, harmful, and disruptive and will not be tolerated at school.

Sample Resolution on Health and Safety Committees

WHEREAS, the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board") recognizes that every educator and student deserves healthy, safe, and equitable working and learning conditions free of known hazards; and

WHEREAS, students and educators are potentially exposed to safety and health hazards every day, such as infectious diseases, indoor air pollution, workplace violence, extreme temperatures, and gun violence; and

WHEREAS, occupational safety and health hazards kill more than 5,000 workers each year; and

WHEREAS, health and safety hazards disrupt students' schooling, undermine learning outcomes, and increase health care costs; and

WHEREAS, a health and safety committee can improve working and learning conditions by providing a collaborative labor-management to identify and solve health and safety concerns before they become serious; and

WHEREAS, a workplace health and safety committee can involve educators in implementing and improving working and learning conditions, heighten awareness of health and safety issues among educators and students, and develop strategies to make the school environment safer and healthier;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the District supports the creation of new labor-management health and safety committees and the invigoration of existing health and safety committees; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board supports the labor-management health and safety committee's role in the review of existing and development of new resources to promote a healthy and safe environment for students, educators, and the communities we serve, and that includes the following key activities:

- 1. Identify unsafe work practices and conditions and suggest appropriate mitigation measures;
- 2. Conduct building walkthroughs of both operations and facilities to identify safety and health hazards and recommend mitigation measures;
- 3. Obtain and analyze available data on past injuries and illnesses, identify trends, and suggest mitigation measures;
- 4. Ensure compliance with the relevant state and local agency health and safety regulations; and
- 5. Brainstorm suggestions and recommendations to address health and safety concerns.

Sample Resolution on Charter Schools

WHEREAS, it is the right of every child to access a free, high-quality public K-12 education; and

WHEREAS, the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") has a responsibility to ensure that all students-whether Black, Brown, or White, Native or newcomer, LGBTQ+, or differently abledwho reside within its boundaries can access a free, high-quality public non-sectarian K-12 education; and

WHEREAS, through its policies and practices, the District has made a commitment to a quality non-sectarian public education for all students; and

WHEREAS, charter schools that are not subject to basic standards and safeguards that govern traditional public schools have a substantial track record of inflicting significant harms on students, educators, and their communities-creating instability in students' education when schools fail and must be closed, exacerbating racial and ethnic segregation, and draining public funds through a variety of profiteering schemes; and

WHEREAS, virtual or online charter schools have a track record that shows they cannot provide students with a well-rounded, complete educational experience, including optimal kinesthetic, physical, social, and emotional development; and

WHEREAS, the opening of charters too often prompts cutbacks or closures in local public schools without improving the quality of education for all students; and

WHEREAS, the District is empowered to authorize and oversee charter schools and authorize and oversee the operation of all public schools in the District to ensure that all students' needs are met;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the District will authorize and reauthorize charter schools only to the extent that they meet the following substantive standards that apply to all public schools:

- 1. The charter school is necessary to meet the needs of students in the District and will meet those needs in a manner that will improve the overall public school system and not harm other students or schools in the District;
- 2. The charter school will provide a free, accessible, non-sectarian, non-discriminatory, and high-quality education to students;
- 3. The charter school will provide the same public access to its meetings and records as any public school in the District;
- 4. The charter school is neither run, nor managed, by a for-profit or sectarian entity, including a for-profit education management organization, and complies with the same fiscal transparency, prohibitions against conflicts of interest, and auditing requirements as any public school in the District;
- 5. The charter school complies with the same civil rights-including federal and state laws and protections for students with disabilities-employment, health, labor, safety, staff qualification, and certification requirements as other public schools; and

6. The charter school otherwise complies with education quality requirements equivalent to those applicable to other district schools is subject to effective oversight and review by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board") and operates in all material respects as part of the public school system; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District will oppose the authorization or reauthorization of charter schools that do not meet these substantive standards and that are not fully accountable to the District with respect to academic performance and fiscal oversight; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that to ensure these substantive standards are met, charter schools will be authorized and reauthorized only where the District has completed an assessmentwhich shall be independent, developed with community input, and written and publicly available-of the impact of the proposed school on public school resources, programs, and services, including the District's operating and capital expenses; appropriate facility availability; racial, ethnic, and socio-economic composition of district schools and education equity for all students, including English language learners and students with disabilities, in the District; the likelihood that the charter school will prompt cutbacks or closures in local public schools; and consideration of whether other improvements (such as community schools or class size reduction) would better serve the needs of students and the community; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that to ensure these substantive standards are met, the District will periodically review and audit any charter school authorized by the District to ensure that the substantive standards set forth above are met; charter schools must agree to such reviews and audits as a condition of being authorized by the District; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that charter schools authorized by the District must include a provision in their charter contract agreeing that their employees, upon the employees' request, will be protected by a collective bargaining agreement; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District will not authorize virtual or online charter schools.

Sample Policy on Charter Schools

The Board, in Resolution [NUMBER], based on its educational experience and as part of its deliberative process as the governing body, has found that when charter schools are not subject to basic standards and safeguards that govern traditional public schools, they can inflict significant harm on students, schools, and communities. Accordingly, the District will authorize charter schools only to the extent that they meet substantive standards that govern public schools and are fully accountable to the District.

The District will only consider applications from charter schools that meet the following requirements:

- 1. Explain why authorization of the school is necessary to meet the needs of students in the District and how the school meets those needs in a manner that improves the District for all students, including students in public schools;
- 2. Provide proof that the school is organized and operated as a nonprofit entity under the laws of this State:
- 3. Provide a detailed explanation of how the school's employees will be covered by collective bargaining agreements;
- 4. Provide assurances that the prospective school will not contract another entity to manage the school or its operations;
- 5. Contain a detailed plan for sustaining financial solvency and independence from the district school:
- 6. Explain in detail how it will provide a free, accessible, non-sectarian, quality education that meets the same standards as every other public school;
- 7. Explain in detail the safeguards and policies the school will have in place to ensure that it complies with the same requirements of open meetings and public records laws that govern public schools; prohibitions against for-profit operation or profiteering; and conflict of interest, financial disclosure, and auditing requirements that are applicable to all public schools in the District;
- 8. Explain in detail the safequards and policies the school will have in place to comply with all other federal and state civil rights, employment, health, labor, safety, and staff qualification and certification laws that apply to public schools;
- 9. Explain in detail how the school plans to ensure-including through its admission, retention, disciplinary, and other policies—that it does not have an adverse impact on the racial, ethnic, and socio-economic composition of schools and neighborhoods or on equitable access to quality services for all district students, including students with disabilities and English language learners; and
- 10. Explain in detail how the school will meet compliance with education quality requirements equivalent to those applicable to other district public schools, is subject to effective oversight and review by the Board, and operate in all material respects as part of the public schools of the District.

This Policy applies to all new charter petitions and all charter schools seeking to be reauthorized as of or after the [20##-20##] school year.

Sample Policy on Health Care and Social Services

In support of community-supported schools and thriving students, the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board") recognizes that social, emotional, and physical health are fundamental to students being college-, career-, and community-ready.

Providing access to health care and social services ensures that students are healthy and ready to learn and is an important element of a comprehensive approach to preventing disease and disability in children and youth.

The [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") represents a diverse population with a wide range of health needs. The District is committed to an equitable distribution of health and wellness services and resources across the District, with data-driven program development and quality improvement.

To ensure the health and safety of our students, community partners that want to provide health services at public school sites—such as screenings, vision or dental services, vaccinations, physical exams, and others—must be coordinated through the Health and Wellness Unit of the Family, School, and Community Partnerships Department. This includes one-time as well as ongoing delivery of services to students.

School Nurses

The District will provide comprehensive, equitable, and holistic nursing services by credentialed school nurses to all students in PreK-12 (and until age 21 for some students with disabilities). Services include case management of students with chronic health conditions, state-mandated screenings and audits, screenings for behavioral challenges and disabilities, health education, and health-related trainings.

School-Based Health Centers (SBHCs)

Through a partnership between the District, [COUNTY] (hereinafter, "County"), and community-based organizations, SBHCs provide access to important medical, mental health, and health education services for students and community members regardless of insurance status or ability to pay and are committed to reducing the unmet need for health care services among district students and their parents and families.

Behavioral Health

Because good mental health is critical to a student's ability to learn, the District shall collaborate with local and state health, mental health, and social service providers to offer integrated mental health services in district schools, including crisis response, and provide equitable access to mental health and other health care services to all students within the District.

Referrals, Coordination, and AOST

The District acknowledges that while our schools play a critical role in helping children access health care services, it is essential to achieve this in collaboration with local agencies and community-based organizations. An Alignment of Services Team (AOST) is a site-based multidisciplinary team composed of service providers, school administration, and school staff and is designed to enable the coordination and alignment of services to meet the needs of an individual student and their family. All schools shall implement district-wide protocols for AOST that ensure timely and equitable treatment for all referred students.

Health Coverage and Social Services Enrollment

Through a partnership with the County and other community-based agencies, the District will continue to conduct central and site-based enrollment into free and low-cost health insurance and other social services programs.

The Superintendent of Schools or designee shall be responsible for the oversight, implementation, and evaluation of this Policy. A council of key stakeholders, including educators and community partners, shall serve as an advisory group to oversee implementation of the Policy.

Sample Resolution on Artificial Intelligence

WHEREAS, the rapid adoption and expansion of artificial intelligence (AI) technologies are permeating throughout several industries and trades; and

WHEREAS, K-12 and higher education are not immune from the impacts of Al; and

WHEREAS, the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District) understands the potential benefits to teaching and learning that carefully implemented AI technologies can have on students and educators, including personalization of instruction, automation of routine tasks, tutoring, aiding collaboration and creativity, content creation and enhancement, and high-speed data analysis; and

WHEREAS, the District understands the risks and pitfalls associated with AI technologies, including infringement on intellectual property rights, digital equity and access concerns, contributions to misinformation, concerns around data privacy, racial and cultural biases, bullying, plagiarism, threats to jobs, and more; and

WHEREAS, the District believes that AI technologies should only be implemented with proper human oversight and with the decision-making power primarily in the hands of educators and administrators; and

WHEREAS, the District believes that AI technologies should be leveraged to enhance and enrich instruction for students and should not be used to replace education employees who work with students or limit their employment; and

WHEREAS, the equitable use and implementation of AI technologies in education must be regularly and fairly evaluated with educators at the decision-making table; and

WHEREAS, the District understands that educators will need ongoing and regular professional learning and development in the implementation of AI technologies; and

WHEREAS, the District wants to mitigate the risks and pitfalls of AI technologies while maximizing the benefits toward optimal teaching and learning experiences for all district students and educators:

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the District develops a comprehensive set of guidelines related to the research, procurement, piloting, and ongoing evaluation of Al technologies within [TIMELINE], including, but not limited to:

- 1. The convening of an advisory committee, inclusive of educators, to determine Al technology needs and provide guidance and support across the District;
- 2. A process for assessing the risks and pitfalls of AI technologies, including, but not limited to, infringement on intellectual property rights, inequitable technology access, contributing to misinformation, concerns around data privacy, racial and cultural biases, bullying, plagiarism, and threats to jobs;
- 3. Protocols to hold vendors accountable for addressing the aforementioned risks and pitfalls of AI technologies;

- 4. Requirements for extensive testing of AI technology pilots with diverse users to evaluate effectiveness and risks before district-wide implementation;
- 5. Policies for transparent disclosure of what data will be collected and how it will be used to all students, parents, families, and staff;
- 6. Ongoing professional development for staff on all AI technologies to be implemented, the equitable and ethical use of AI aligned with district values, and the promotion of AI literacy among students;
- 7. A process for ongoing auditing, monitoring, and evaluation of AI benefits and impacts on students and staff;
- 8. Channels for feedback and concerns about AI practices from students, parents, families, and staff: and
- 9. A budget for costs of the use of and training toward AI systems and ensuring its responsible use.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that development of AI technologies and guidelines will continuously and regularly engage a diverse set of interest holders, inclusive of students, families, educators, other educational staff, educator unions, and community members.

Sample Policy on Comprehensive Curriculum

The [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") affirms that curricular offerings in music and arts, world languages, civics and government, economics, history, geography, and physical education and health are integral to a comprehensive educational program aimed at strong learning, achievement, and development opportunities that prepare all students across race, place, background, and ability for futures where they can thrive.

The District further supports broad student access to courses in these areas and district- and building-level support for educators aimed at continuous improvement in instruction.

To achieve these goals, the District commits to support the following:

- 1. Ensuring or expanding access to curricular offerings in these subject areas, consistent with applicable state requirements;
- 2. Expanding the amount of instructional time available or devoted to these subjects, consistent with applicable state requirements;
- 3. Providing for curriculum development that is aligned with state standards where relevant;
- 4. Supporting professional development to improve instruction, based on periodic formal solicitation of educator needs and input and led by educators wherever possible;
- 5. Providing essential materials and textbooks aligned with State standards where relevant: and
- 6. Collaborating with federal, state, and community-based organizations and institutions to increase student learning in these subjects.

The District will annually publish on its publicly accessible website a report on course availability at each school, including the subjects identified in this Policy, along with comparative information on such offerings for the previous school year. Within 30 days of the release of this annual report, the District will hold an open public forum to respond to questions and obtain input from students, parents, families, educators, and other community members. The forum shall be convened at a date and time designed to promote maximum attendance and allow sufficient time to incorporate community input into decisions regarding the following school year.

To help implement the actions outlined above, the District shall create a Curriculum and Professional Development Committee that shall include at least one educator and one instructional coach, designated by the President of the Association representing educators in the District.

District school administrators are hereby directed to convene school-level Curriculum and Professional Development Committees that include educators with instructional responsibilities in each of the subject areas identified in this Policy to further support implementation and undertake such other related tasks, as appropriate.

Sample Policy on Teacher Support and Evaluation

To develop a teacher support, evaluation, and peer review plan, the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District"] will establish a Joint Teacher-District Teacher Evaluation and Peer Review Design Team (hereinafter, "Team"). The Team is responsible for the development of a teacher support, evaluation, and peer review plan for probationary and continuing teachers.

The Team will consist of the following:

- 1. [NUMBER] teachers representing the education association; and
- 2. [NUMBER] representatives of the District appointed by the Superintendent or his designee.

The Superintendent will convene the first meeting of the Team no later than [DATE]. The agenda of the first meeting will include the establishment of a regular meeting schedule. A designee of the education association and the Superintendent or a designee will serve as co-chairs of the Team. The Team will establish practices and procedures for its operation. The District shall supply the necessary resources, including, but not limited to, secretarial support, to allow for the completion of the Team's responsibility.

The elements to be considered in the development of the plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- 1. The processes and timelines that will be used in the three-year evaluation cycle;
- 2. Data collection and reporting requirements to ensure the evaluation system is functioning fairly and does not have a disparate impact on teachers based on the school or student populations that they teach;
- 3. Identification of multiple measures of teacher effectiveness;
- 4. Staff development opportunities aligned with the evaluation process established under [STATE STATUTE];
- 5. Qualifications and training of mentors and evaluators, including:
 - a. Training and use of induction mentors for probationary teachers;
 - b. Training and use of peer mentors for continuing teachers; and
 - c. Orientation for mentee teachers with regard to working effectively with a mentor;
- 6. Assistance plans and procedures for teachers identified through the evaluation and peer review processes as not meeting the performance standards established in the evaluation process;
- 7. An evaluation and peer review implementation schedule that includes:
 - a. Timeline for adoption;
 - b. Timeline for implementation;

- c. Timeline for training of mentors and evaluators in advance of the implementation date; and
- d. Notification in advance of observations and evaluations to teachers being observed or evaluated; the Team shall determine the manner and timing of this notification.

Sample Resolution to Audit School Policing Policies and Practices

WHEREAS, the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") is responsible for the fair, respectful treatment of all students and a learning environment free from the effects of implicit or explicit bias; and

WHEREAS, experiences with law enforcement in public schools have led educators, school boards, students, and communities to question how hiring police officers impacts both students and staff; and

WHEREAS, evidence shows an increase in the presence of law enforcement in our public schools, particularly in schools that predominantly serve students of color; and

WHEREAS, students of color, particularly Black and Brown students, are referred into the criminal justice system at far higher rates than White students for violations of school discipline policies; and

WHEREAS, evidence shows that properly trained security personnel working with school mental health professionals and other educators can promote restorative justice practices and foster a safe school community; and

WHEREAS, the presence of law enforcement personnel in schools results in an over-reliance on these staff to intervene in the discipline process, resulting in unwarranted school-based arrests and referrals of students to the criminal system that would not have otherwise occurred;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the Board directs the Superintendent in collaboration with educators, students, parents, families, and community stakeholders to conduct a fresh review of their discipline practices and collect data that is constantly and consistently analyzed so that it is transparent to educators, students, parents, and families, whether or not there is evidence of racial bias in student discipline enforcement; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board directs the Superintendent in collaboration with educators from [LOCAL AFFILIATE] to review training curriculum to ensure that all educators, especially those charged with supporting discipline practices, receive training in age-appropriate responses/interventions, cultural competence, implicit bias, and restorative practices and techniques and differentiate between discipline and crime and how to respond to each appropriately; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board directs the Superintendent in collaboration with educators, students, and parents and families to assess the climate of every school in the District to determine whether it is supportive of students' needs, such as providing sufficient counselors, social workers, nurses, and other professionals who can attend to students' socialemotional and mental health needs, and if not, the Superintendent will work with educators, students, parents, families, and community stakeholders to develop budget proposals to remedy the deficiencies; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board directs the Superintendent in collaboration with educators, students, parents, and families to review district and school policies and practices to determine whether referrals of students to be placed in special education programs or referrals

for 504 plans are being used as a substitute for more appropriate interventions and further directs the Superintendent to work with educators, students, parents, families, and community stakeholders to devise a plan to prevent or remedy any and all disproportionality in these referrals; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board directs the Superintendent to provide recommendations addressing the aforementioned and any other recommendations about how the students of the District will be equitably served, safety maintained, and policies and practices transformed to ensure safe and just schools by [DATE].

Sample Resolution on Equitable Distribution of Effective Educators

WHEREAS, the future well-being of the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") relies on providing the most vulnerable students access to high-quality education and program support; and

WHEREAS, the District's public schools do not reflect an equitable distribution of experienced and effective educators: and

WHEREAS, all students should have the opportunity to an experienced, qualified educator regardless of where they live; and

WHEREAS, educator recruitment and retention policies and practices can support or undermine equitable allocation of educators within a school district;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the Board supports the development and implementation of an educator recruitment and retention plan in collaboration with the [LOCAL AFFILIATE], students, parents, families, and community members to ensure all students have equitable access to experienced and qualified educators; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board supports the inclusion of the definitions for hardto-staff schools and experienced educators within all educator recruitment and retention plans; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board supports the District in recruiting promising educators from under-represented populations and promotes the equitable distribution of effective educators.

Sample Policy on Family, School, and **Community Partnerships**

The [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") recognizes that parents, family members, and caregivers are their children's first and most influential teachers. Continued family engagement in the education of students contributes greatly to lifelong learning and a positive school environment and experience.

The responsibility for a child's education is shared by the school and family during the time the child spends in school. To support the goal of the District to provide a high-quality education to all students, staff, and caregivers, these stakeholders must work together as partners.

To this end, the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board") supports the development, implementation, and regular evaluation of family engagement strategies in each school and at the district level that will involve family members at all grade levels in a variety of roles. The family, school, and community partnerships program will be comprehensive and coordinated, and it will include as a guide the six standards of family, school, and community partnerships outlined by the National Parent Teacher Association:

- 1. Effective two-way communication between the home and school personnel;
- 2. A welcoming environment for all families;
- 3. A full partnership between families and schools in the decisions that affect students;
- 4. Enhanced family partnerships to support student learning at home;
- 5. Lasting partnerships between schools, parents, families, businesses, and the community; and
- 6. Increased community and district resources aimed at strengthening families, schools, and community partnerships.

Moreover, the District will ensure accountability of all staff in working with parents and families as academic partners and establish avenues of two-way communication to keep parents and families informed, promote transparency, and build trust. The District will also support professional development opportunities for staff members to enhance understanding of effective family, school, and community partnership strategies.

In the event of a complaint against a staff member by a school, family, or community member, the District will conduct a thorough investigation in accordance with all due process protections to which the staff member is entitled, including an opportunity for all staff members to respond to all allegations in a complaint and be accompanied by a representative of their choice in any interviews by the employer before any discipline, if warranted, is imposed.

The District recognizes the importance of administrative leadership in setting expectations and creating a climate conducive to family, school, and community partnerships. In collaboration with the District Accountability Committee, the Board and district staff will commit to providing district and community resources to support the efforts of schools to reach out to parents as equal partners.

Sample Resolution to Terminate the Contract for School Services with the [CITY/COUNTY POLICE DEPARTMENT]

WHEREAS, [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") is responsible for all interactions students have with adults in our school buildings in order to promote a positive school climate; and

WHEREAS, the systemic criminalization of youth of color-in particular, young Black peopleyouth with disabilities, and youth of color with disabilities in schools is one of the most persistent and pernicious forms of structural racism and violence in this country; and

WHEREAS, more than a quarter of a million young people are arrested or referred to law enforcement in their schools each year, [LOCAL DATA, IF KNOWN]; and

WHEREAS, recent actions of officers in the [CITY/COUNTY POLICE DEPARTMENT; NOTE: by inserting the police department's name, the local/community group should be able to cite specific instances either in the resolution or in collateral materials or testimony] (hereinafter, "CPD") run directly counter to the values the District seeks in partners; and

WHEREAS, the District has decided the current contract and any continuing contract for services with the CPD do not adequately further the priorities of the District's equity, school climate, and social-emotional learning goals; and

WHEREAS, research has long demonstrated that police presence in schools does not keep schools safe, but instead reduced classroom sizes, restorative practices, engaging and culturally relevant curricula, and mental health supports are more effective at creating safe, healthy, and joyful learning environments, so the District has decided that the district resources that are being spent on the contract with the CPD can be better spent on counselors, mental health services, social workers, nurses, parent engagement personnel, and other wraparound services; and

WHEREAS, district policy [POLICY LANGUAGE ABOUT DEDICATION TO ELIMINATING BIAS, RACISM, AND OTHER FACTORS THAT AFFECT STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT AND LEARNING EXPERIENCES]; and

WHEREAS, young Black and Brown people as well as civil rights and community advocates have long called for the end of policing in schools; and

WHEREAS, the National Association of Secondary School Principals recently called for all school leaders to "address the disparities in our discipline policies and our academic systems, and in our use of school resource officers . . . and to lead conversations with all students and stakeholders that will build culturally responsive schools";

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the District terminates the Contract for Services with the CPD for the services of sworn armed police officers to provide school security and directs the Superintendent to take action necessary to terminate the contract; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board directs the Superintendent to direct resources that were spent on the contract with the CPD be redirected to counselors, mental health services, social workers, nurses, parent engagement personnel, and other wraparound services essential to creating a learning environment that prevents violence and other high risk behaviors by identifying and serving the unique needs of every student; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board shall review and assess their discipline and data collection practices to ensure transparency and determine if there is evidence of racial bias in discipline enforcement; and the Board shall review and assess their climate and training curriculum to ensure the schools are supportive of students' needs and that all educators, especially those charged with supporting discipline practices, receive training in ageappropriate responses and interventions, cultural competence, implicit bias, and restorative practices; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board shall review their special education policies and practices to determine whether referrals of students to be placed in special education or referrals for 504 plans are being used as a substitute for more appropriate interventions; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board directs the Superintendent to work with Black- and Brown-led youth organizations and other community stakeholders to create a communitycentered set of recommendations about how the students in the District will be served and how safety will be maintained for students, educators, and all those in the school setting by [DATE].

Sample Resolution on a Diverse Workforce

WHEREAS, our nation's future well-being relies on high-quality neighborhood public schools that prepare all students for college, career, democracy, and lifelong learning; and

WHEREAS, the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") works to ensure every student across race, place, background, and ability feels respected and reflected in their schools and learning environments; and

WHEREAS, our country's schools must prepare students for an increasingly diverse and globally networked future; and

WHEREAS, racial and ethnic diversity benefits every workforce, including teaching; and

WHEREAS, all students benefit from having teachers from diverse backgrounds; and

WHEREAS, there is a shortage of teachers, and disparities for candidates of color begin prior to college enrollment; and

WHEREAS, our schools struggle with retention of teachers of color, which is largely due to lack of autonomy and feelings of isolation;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the District supports intentional recruitment of teachers of color and culturally competent, profession-ready teachers to ensure that all students experience and benefit from a diverse workforce; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board supports high-quality pathways to teaching; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board calls on the governor, state legislature, state education boards, and state administrators to address barriers to teaching (e.g., licensure exams, college funding) and provide supports for early career educators, particularly educators of color.

Sample Resolution in Support of Restorative Practices in Schools

WHEREAS, school is a place where childhood happens and where every child, regardless of race, place, background, or ability, has the right to learn in a supportive environment that respects their humanity, upholds their dignity, and responds fairly to mistakes and missteps; and

WHEREAS, restorative practices in schools are born and rooted in the values and practices of Indigenous cultures around the world and have more than 30 years of research to support their impact, the implementation of restorative practices schoolwide is a critical step to creating the schools we envision and ending the school-to-prison pipeline. And, when implemented with fidelity, restorative practices create pathways to the elimination of racial disparities in discipline; and

WHEREAS, the following principles should be employed to guide restorative practices implementation: eliminating disparities in discipline practices; creating a supportive and nurturing school climate; professional training and development; partnerships and community engagement; and student and family engagement; and

WHEREAS, restorative practices are not simply a program but represent and support a mindset change for adults and youth as well as school culture change(s) focused on addressing harm and repairing relationships; and

WHEREAS, restorative practices allow individuals who may have committed harm to take full responsibility for their behavior by addressing the individual(s) affected by the behavior; taking responsibility requires understanding how the behavior affected others, acknowledging that the behavior was harmful to others, taking action to repair the harm, and making changes necessary to avoid such behavior in the future; and

WHEREAS, restorative practices are not intended to replace existing evidenced-based programs but are complemented and supported by Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (PBIS), trauma-informed schools, and other social and emotional learning models that assist in building a foundation and culture of caring; programs and initiatives like PBIS complement restorative practices; and

WHEREAS, the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board") accept restorative practices as a means of fulfilling the mission and vision for students in the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District"); and

WHEREAS, adults employed by [CITY] agencies, the [CITY POLICE DEPARTMENT] (hereinafter, "CPD"), district administration leaders and staff consider obtaining training in restorative practices and encouraging their use in schools and in the broader community; and

WHEREAS, whenever possible, [CITY COUNCIL], the Board, and the District will support the engagement of community-based organizations doing restorative justice work and actively seek to identify financial support for restorative practices programs;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by Board, the District encourages CPD to refer all appropriate cases to Restorative Group Conferencing as a diversion from the juvenile justice system; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of [CITY], the District, and CPD will encourage the training of police officers, SROs, and community members in restorative practices and support the building of a community registry of trained facilitators who can handle issues that arise in their neighborhoods.

Sample Resolution on LGBTQ+ Issues

WHEREAS, it is the right of every child, regardless of gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation, to access a free public K-12 education and the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") welcomes and supports all students; and

WHEREAS, the District has a responsibility to ensure that all students who reside within its boundaries—regardless of gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation—can safely access a free public K-12 education; and

WHEREAS, the District values treating every student and educator across race, place, background, ability, and gender with dignity and respect; and

WHEREAS, the District recognizes that there are employees and educators of the highest caliber who are gay, lesbian, and transgender, and that all employees are valued members of the school community regardless of their gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation; and

WHEREAS, the District recognizes that the families in our community come in many different forms and the District values all students' parents, family members, and caregivers, regardless of gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation; and

WHEREAS, [STATE OR LOCAL LAW] prohibits discrimination, including discrimination based on gender identity, gender expression, and sexual orientation; and

WHEREAS, in a landmark opinion *Bostock v. Clayton County* decided on June 15, 2020, the U.S. Supreme Court recognized that discriminating on the basis of actual or perceived sexual orientation or gender identity is always a form of sex discrimination, and federal law prohibits sex discrimination in employment and education; and

WHEREAS, the U.S. Department of Education and the U.S. Department of Justice have recognized that the Supreme Court's reasoning in the *Bostock* decision applies to Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (hereinafter, "Title IX"), and that Title IX prohibits discrimination against and harassment of students and school employees based on their gender identity and sexual orientation; and

WHEREAS, Title IX and other federal civil rights laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of gender identity and sexual orientation preempt local and state laws that conflict, and failure to comply with the requirements of Title IX may jeopardize the District's federal funding; and

WHEREAS, LGBTQ+ students experience high rates of bullying, victimization, and harassment at school on the basis of their actual or perceived sexual orientation or gender identity or that of their associates; and

WHEREAS, this bullying, victimization, and harassment has led to negative education outcomes for LGBTQ+ students, including higher rates of dropping out, higher rates of absenteeism, and lower postsecondary school aspirations; and

WHEREAS, LGBTQ+ students also report higher rates of anxiety and depression; and

WHEREAS, school-age years are a critical time for LGBTQ+ students as they often "come out" or disclose their LGBTQ+ identities to others during that time; and

WHEREAS, creating a welcoming and safe school environment for LGBTQ+ staff, students, parents, families, and caregivers makes the school community more welcoming and safe to all; and

WHEREAS, the District supports education that celebrates different identities, integrity in how we treat others, and courage to do what's right by listening to, learning from, and respecting diverse viewpoints; and

WHEREAS, education personnel are often the primary sources of support, resources, and information to assist and support students and student learning, which includes their social and emotional health;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the District prohibits discrimination against all persons, whether student, family/caregiver of a student, or district employee, on the basis of actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression or the actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression of their associates; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District prohibits bullying and harassment against all persons, whether student or district employee, on the basis of actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression or the actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression of their associates; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board declares the District to be a Safe Space for its students, meaning that the District is a place for students to learn, thrive, and seek assistance, information, and support free from discrimination and bullying; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that every school within the District shall, within 30 days of the date of this Resolution, take steps to create a safe climate for LGBTQ+ students, including designating an LGBTQ+ liaison and providing support for any LGBTQ+ student groups including Gay-Straight Alliances or Gender and Sexuality Alliances ("GSAs"); and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall, within 30 days of the date of this Resolution, create procedures to address anti-LGBTQ+ bullying and harassment, which will include procedures for how students may report bullying and harassment, prohibit retaliation against any student for reporting bullying and harassment, ensure that Title IX coordinators receive appropriate training on LGBTQ+ issues, and require schools to track and report data on incidents of anti-LGBTQ+ bullying and harassment; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall, within 30 days of the date of this Resolution, review and modify its anti-discrimination policies to ensure that those policies prohibit LGBTQ+ discrimination; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall, within 30 days of the date of this Resolution, work with the relevant exclusive bargaining representatives to determine how LGBTQ+ antidiscrimination policies can best be incorporated in existing or future collective bargaining agreements; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall, within 30 days of the date of this Resolution, create a plan for professional development related to anti-LGBTQ+ bullying and harassment, so that all district employees are trained to recognize and respond to anti-LGBTQ+ bullying and harassment; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall allow students and staff to use requested names and pronouns without requiring a legal name change or medical diagnosis; provide equal access to all programs and facilities, including access to bathroom and locker room facilities as needed for all students and staff that align with the students' and staff members' gender expression and provide at least one gender-neutral bathroom; respect the privacy of all students and staff who are in transition; and allow students to participate in all physical education, athletics, and other extracurricular activities according to their gender identity, without requiring legal or medical documentation; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any dress code for district employees or students should be gender neutral; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District and schools shall incorporate LGBTQ+ people and issues in school curricula, including in health and sex education; school libraries shall include materials that portray LGBTQ+ figures in a positive light; the District and schools shall ensure that the curricula include diverse perspectives, especially LGBTQ+ people of color and issues specific to communities of color; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the schools in the District shall provide students with access to LGBTQ+ resources; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall designate October as LGBTQ+ History Month and June as LGBTQ+ Pride Month, and the District may consider recognizing March 31 as International Transgender Day of Visibility and approving students' participation in the Day of Silence, a demonstration against bullying and harassment of LGBTQ+ students in schools, held on a Friday in April every year; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall post this Resolution at every school site and distribute it to district staff, students, and parents using usual means of communication, and that the Resolution will be translated into all languages spoken by students at home; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Superintendent shall report back on compliance with this Resolution to the Board at its next meeting; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board affirms that certificated district employees have the academic freedom to discuss this Resolution during class time provided it is age-appropriate, and students are to be made aware that district counselors are available to discuss the subjects contained in this Resolution; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that afterschool providers and other vendors and service providers who contract with the District shall be notified of this Resolution within 30 days and required to abide by it.

Sample Policy on Inclusive Learning Environments

Purpose

Discrimination and harassment on the basis of sex-including discrimination and harassment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity-is prohibited under federal, [STATE], and [LOCAL] law and is against the Policy of the District.

Bullying, harassment, and intimidation based on actual or perceived sex, sexual orientation, or gender identity or expression is prohibited in the District. District schools address bullying, harassment, and intimidation in compliance with its disciplinary policies and regulations, which include education and providing students and staff with appropriate resources and supports. The Board acknowledges that the transfer of students who are victims of bullying, harassment, or intimidation to a different school is not a preferred mode of responding, and such response should only be considered in consultation, agreement, or at the request of the victim and their parents and families.

Definitions

BULLYING/HARASSMENT/INTIMIDATION: Intentional conduct-including verbal, physical, or written-or intentional electronic communication that creates a hostile learning environment by substantially interfering with a student's educational benefits, opportunities, or performance or with a student's physical or psychological well-being and is: (1) motivated by an actual or perceived personal characteristic of sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender expression; (2) threatening or seriously intimidating; (3) occurs on school property, at a school activity or event, or on a school bus; or (4) substantially disrupts the orderly operation of a school.

GENDER EXPRESSION: The manner in which a person represents or expresses gender to others, often through behavior, clothing, hairstyles, activities, voice, or mannerisms.

GENDER IDENTITY: A person's deeply held sense or psychological knowledge of their own gender, which can include being female, male, another gender, or no gender. Gender identity is an innate and largely inflexible part of a person's identity. One's gender identity can be the same or different than the gender assigned at birth. The responsibility for determining an individual's gender identity rests with the individual.

GENDER NONCONFORMING: A term for people whose gender expression differs from stereotypical expectations, such as "feminine" boys, "masculine" girls, and those who are perceived as androgynous. This includes people who identify outside traditional gender categories or identify as multiple genders. Other terms that can have similar meanings include gender diverse or gender expansive.

NON-BINARY/GENDERQUEER: Terms used by those who identify with neither, both, or a combination of genders.

SEXUAL ORIENTATION: A person's romantic and/or physical attraction to people of the same or opposite gender or other genders. Transgender and gender nonconforming people may have any sexual orientation.

TRANSGENDER: An adjective describing a person whose gender identity or expression is different from that traditionally associated with an assigned gender at birth.

TRANSITION: The process in which a person goes from living and identifying as one gender to living and identifying as another. Transition is a process that is different for everyone, and it may or may not involve social, legal, or physical changes. There is no one step or set of steps that an individual must undergo in order to have their gender identity affirmed and respected.

Policy Statement

This Policy is designed to provide an overarching framework and assurances that all students will be safe, welcomed, and affirmed. Depending on privacy needs or a transgender student's own personal transition, school staff are authorized to work with students (and their parents and/or families, if students explicitly wish) to provide options that may support a student's needs.

Privacy/Confidentiality

The District respects the rights of students to express their gender identity or expression as they wish. Transgender and gender nonconforming students have the right to discuss and express their gender identity and expression openly and to decide where, when, and with whom to share private information. The fact that a student may wish to use a different name or pronoun at school or disclose their transgender or gender nonconforming status to school staff does not authorize school staff to disclose a student's personally identifiable or medical information.

The District will ensure all personally identifiable and medical information relating to transgender and gender nonconforming students will be kept confidential according to applicable federal, state, and local privacy and student records laws.

Use of Preferred Names/Official Records

NAMES/PRONOUNS: The District recognizes the right of every student to be referred to by their preferred name and pronoun. All staff who work with students will have access to a current and complete list of preferred names and pronouns for all students and will use them in every interaction, unless the interaction could compromise student privacy.

STUDENT RECORDS: Each school is required to maintain an official student record of each student, which includes the legal name of the student and birth gender. Official student records can be modified as stipulated under state law and/or in accordance with State Department of Education regulations.

Access to Gender-Segregated Facilities

Students, including non-binary students, should determine which facilities are consistent with their gender identity. All students must have access to facilities-including restrooms, locker rooms, or changing facilities—that correspond to their gender identity. Access is provided without any additional complicating procedure.

Any student, regardless of gender or gender identity or expression, who is uncomfortable for any reason using a gender-segregated facility will be provided a safe and non-stigmatizing alternative. Options include, but are not limited to, privacy curtains, provisions to use private restrooms or office restrooms, or a separate changing schedule. These options are provided to any student without question or complicating procedures required. Under no circumstance is any student required or directed to use a private-use facility.

Participation in Sports and Physical Education Classes

Students are permitted participation in school sports and physical education classes in a manner consistent with their gender identity. The gender identity of student-athletes is not required to be disclosed to coaches, teammates, opponents' coaches, or anyone else if not authorized by the student. If special events, such as out-of-state tournaments or competitions, specify particular disclosures, those will be discussed in advance and confidentially with the student.

Overnight Field Trips

The comfort of all students is paramount in the decisions around overnight field trips. Maximizing students' social integration may be achieved by applying these guidelines:

- Make arrangements in consultation with the student; if the transgender or gender nonconforming student's parents or caregivers are involved and supportive, they should also be consulted;
- Be sensitive to the need to maintain the student's privacy and not disclose or require disclosure of the student's transgender or gender nonconforming status to other students or their parents without the consent of the transgender or gender nonconforming student and/or the student's parents or caregivers;
- 3. Allow students the opportunity to room with others according to their gender identity; and
- 4. Make efforts to accommodate any student who desires greater privacy; however, no student should be isolated.

Activities

Dress codes designated for school events like dances, graduations, and other ceremonies shall be gender neutral.

Training and Professional Development

All district personnel who work directly with students are required to participate in or have access to annual training that includes:

- 1. The importance of privacy for all students as well as an overview of the legal and other implications of disclosing gender identity to parents or caregivers;
- 2. Terms, concepts, and current developmental understandings of gender identity, gender expression, and gender diversity in children and adolescents;
- 3. Developmentally appropriate strategies for communication with students and parents or caregivers about issues related to gender identity and gender expression that protect student privacy;
- 4. Developmentally appropriate strategies for preventing and intervening in bullying incidents, including cyberbullying;
- 5. Classroom management practices, curriculum, and resources that educators can integrate into their classrooms to foster a more gender-inclusive environment for all students; and
- 6. This Policy.

(Acknowledgement to Frederick County Public Schools, Maryland, for the use of their policy in creating this sample.)

Sample Resolution on Disability Rights and Inclusion in Schools

WHEREAS, it is the right of every child, regardless of ability, to access a free appropriate public education and the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") welcomes and supports all students; and

WHEREAS, the District believes that a high-quality public education for all students is one of the essential foundations to prepare our students for futures where they will thrive; and

WHEREAS, the District recognizes that in addition to the student population, there are employees and educators of the highest caliber who are valued members of the school community who have either apparent or non-apparent disabilities; and

WHEREAS, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) ensures that all eligible students identified with a disability receive special education and related services to address their individual needs in the least restrictive environment as documented in their individualized education program (IEP); and

WHEREAS, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) prohibits discrimination against and guarantees equal access and opportunities for all people with disabilities; and

WHEREAS, §504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability and provides protections for students and educators with disabilities from exclusion and unequal treatment and necessitates access to modifications, accommodations, and services to allow those with disabilities to access the same opportunities as their non-disabled peers; and

WHEREAS, students with disabilities experience higher exclusionary discipline rates, are referred to police more often, and are chronically absent more than their non-disabled peers leading to lower academic achievement, higher likelihood of dropping out, and higher incidences of juvenile incarceration; and

WHEREAS, 67 percent of students with disabilities who have IEPs spend 80 percent of their time in the general education classroom; and

WHEREAS, the dominant culture views the corporeal standard as ideal and fails to value neurodivergent individuals and focuses on physical and cognitive impairments without recognizing the negative impact of disabling environments and fosters disability stigma and ableism; and

WHEREAS, disability is only one facet of an individual's identity, additional attributes of their identities (e.g., sexual orientation, age, religion, race) can magnify discrimination and marginalization;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], by the [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), the District shall prohibit discrimination against all persons-whether student, district employee, family member, or community member-on the basis of disability; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall commit itself to including persons with disabilities in all plans and actions aimed at improving or addressing issues related to disabilities: and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall utilize a workload analysis model to account for the time that special educators need to provide direct and indirect services and supports to meet the individual needs of their students as outlined in their IEP in the least restrictive environment; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that in addition to special educators, paraeducators, and specialized instructional support personnel (SISP), the District shall create and implement a plan for professional learning opportunities to ensure that general educators understand the full range of supports and services that are available to students with disabilities in the general education classroom and how to implement them; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall provide information to educators and employees, both those with a record of having or are otherwise regarded as having a substantial impairment, of their rights to reasonable accommodations and modifications to ensure enjoyment and privileges of employment to the same degree as their non-disabled peers and shall provide all reasonable accommodations and modifications; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall provide training for all educators and employees in evidence-based training aimed at reducing exclusionary discipline practices, informal removals, law enforcement referrals, and mitigating the use of seclusion and/or restraint: and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall create a plan to build educator and employee understanding of the disability-inclusive culture, recognizing and responding to negative attitudes and stereotypes of those with disabilities, recognizing and responding to ableist language and actions, and how intersectionality amplifies discrimination for those with disabilities: and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the District shall work with those in their community who are most impacted by ableism-individuals with disabilities-to follow their lead in a continuous process of identifying and dismantling disabling environments and barriers to access for students, educators, employees, families, and community members.

Sample Resolution on Budget Transparency

WHEREAS, the annual budget is the strongest statement of priorities of the [DISTRICT] (hereinafter, "District") for its students, educators, and public schools, and as such, it is important that stakeholders are involved in its development; and

WHEREAS, stakeholder engagement and collaboration may enhance the effectiveness of the District and [SCHOOL DISTRICT GOVERNING BOARD] (hereinafter, "Board"), expand its range of options, improve the quality of its decisions, and enlist the problem-solving capacities of stakeholders; and

WHEREAS, meaningful public involvement can help stakeholders understand the choices that budgeting entails and assist policymakers in better understanding the programs and services stakeholders value most; and

WHEREAS, increased public understanding about the budget can lead to greater support for budgetary decisions as well as for measures to increase revenues and their effective use; and

WHEREAS, transparency about the budget process promotes public trust and confidence in the stewardship of taxpayer dollars;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on [DATE] of [MONTH, YEAR], the Board shall adopt and make publicly available a stakeholder participation policy to guide the District's and Board's development and implementation of a budget; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the stakeholder participation policy shall include a budget calendar that identifies specific opportunities for stakeholder input where district and board officials are available to explain issues and choices and to receive comments; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the stakeholder participation policy shall include education and outreach strategies that reflect the diverse ways that stakeholders receive information; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that stakeholder input shall be obtained in multiple ways, such as through advisory committees, round-table briefings, and public hearings, among others, and shall not be limited to a single approach; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that stakeholder input shall be broadly accessible in terms of location, time, and language and by individuals with disabilities; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all budget documents and related materials made available to stakeholders shall be presented in a clear and readily comprehensible format, and that multiple formats shall be used that are both tailored to the needs of various stakeholders and for accessibility; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the stakeholder participation policy shall include a requirement for the District and the Board to report publicly on how it has engaged and shall continue to engage in meaningful consultation with stakeholders, how it provided the public the opportunity to provide input into the development of the budget and a summary of the input, and how it took such input into account.



National Education Association 1201 16th Street, NW Washington, DC 20036-3290

